RECEIVED

07-10-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2018AP000826-CR 2018AP000827-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SIMON E. JENINGA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Judgments of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable David M. Reddy Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether trial-level counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by not filing a motion to suppress evidence obtained pursuant to a search warrant that was: (1) facially deficient, (2) unconstitutionally overbroad, and (3) contained intentional or reckless omissions and misrepresentations of material fact.

Mr. Jeninga's postconviction motion was denied in the circuit court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested, but would be welcomed if the Court so orders. Publication is likely not warranted. The issues involve application of well-established law to the facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Police obtained a search warrant to search Mr. Jeninga's personal cell phone and all of the data stored therein. *See Riley v. California*, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2490 (2014) (a person's cell phone carries "a cache of sensitive personal information" amounting to "a digital record of nearly every aspect of their lives").

The warrant issued after nine-year-old M.Y.V. said that Mr. Jeninga, her mom's husband, shook her on his clothed lap and she could feel his "squirrel's tail" through his pants. (R1-2:1-2).¹ Detective Thomas Bushey interviewed Mr. Jeninga at the City of Elkhorn Police Department. In discovery, trial counsel was provided with an audiovisual recording of the interview. (R1-36).

Throughout the interview, Mr. Jeninga adamantly denied that anything inappropriate occurred with M.Y.V. He acknowledged bouncing her on his lap, but maintained that it was not done in an inappropriate manner. (R1-36 at $4:11:20^2$) ("she's sat on my lap before," "she's bounced around.").

After interviewing Mr. Jeninga, the detective left the room. (R1-36:4:41:09). While the detective was gone, Mr. Jeninga began using his cell phone. When the detective came back (R1-36: 5:06:02), he asked Mr. Jeninga what he was doing on his phone. Mr. Jeninga replied that he was texting his mother and trying to get a hold of his wife (M.Y.V.'s mother, Nicole).

The detective told Mr. Jeninga he had decided to refer charges and Mr. Jeninga was now under arrest and would be handcuffed. (R1-36:5:07:02). He told Mr. Jeninga he was taking Mr. Jeninga's phone and asked for the phone's password. Mr. Jeninga said there was no password. The detective asked for permission to search the phone. Mr. Jeninga declined, and asked the detective why he needed to look at the phone. The detective responded that he did not know who Mr. Jeninga had been texting and "maybe you've been telling somebody something." (R1-36:5:07:30).

¹ This is a consolidated appeal. Record citations to Appeal No. 2018AP00086 will be to "R1" and citations to Appeal No. 2018AP00087 will be to "R2."

 $^{^{2}}$ Portions of this record item will be identified by timestamp.

Mr. Jeninga offered to show the detective "everything I just said" and handed the detective his phone. (R1-36:5:07:34). The detective said, "so I can analyze your phone? Do I have your permission to look through everything?" Mr. Jeninga did not say yes, but instead directed the detective to the contents of his text messages. The detective said "alright," and kept possession of the phone. The detective signaled to another officer to put Mr. Jeninga in handcuffs, and Mr. Jeninga was taken away to jail.

The detective subsequently drafted a two-page application and affidavit for a search warrant for the cell phone and all of its data. (R1-7, R1-8). The warrant affidavit alleged the following in support of a warrant:

- M.Y.V. said Mr. Jeninga shook her on his lap five times. She could feel his "squirrel's tail," it felt hard, and she did not like the feeling. She circled the pelvic area on a drawing of a boy.
- M.Y.V.'s mother, Nicole, told police that she confronted Mr. Jeninga and he said he was just being playful and silly.
- Detective Bushey questioned Mr. Jeninga about M.Y.V.'s statements.
- Mr. Jeninga "denied that he would put M.Y.V. on his lap."
- Mr. Jeninga was texting on his cell phone in the interview room.
- When asked who he was texting, Mr. Jeninga said "Nicole."

- Detective Bushey asked for permission to look at the phone and "go through it."
- Mr. Jeninga "stated no."
- "Your affiant knows through his training and experience that people who sexually assault children will sometimes comment on it through their texts, sometimes take pictures of the victims on their phones while they are sexually assaulting them, and sometimes download child porn on their phones."

(R1-8:1-2; App. 101-02).

The affidavit omitted the fact that Mr. Jeninga offered to let the detective view his text messages and handed the detective his phone for this purpose. The affidavit incorrectly asserted that Mr. Jeninga denied bouncing M.Y.V. on his lap when Mr. Jeninga in fact acknowledged doing so but maintained it was in an appropriate manner. In addition, the affidavit incorrectly asserted that Mr. Jeninga said he was texting with his wife, Nicole, when in fact, he said he was texting with his mother, and "trying" to get a hold of his wife, Nicole. The detective asked, "is your wife [Nicole] answering?" and Mr. Jeninga said "no." (R1-36:5:06:15).

A subsequent forensic analysis of the phone revealed evidence of child pornography in the cell phone's internet browser history. The State charged Mr. Jeninga with repeated sexual assault of a child in Case No. 16-CF-62 $(R1-2)^3$ and

³ The State mischarged Mr. Jeninga with a violation of Wis. Stat. 948.025(1)(a). Under that section, a person is guilty of a Class A felony only if there are at least 3 violations of Wis. Stat. 948.02(1)(am). Section 948.02(1)(am) requires proof that the person had sexual

possession of child pornography in Case No. 16-CF-162. (R2-1).

While the two cases were pending, the State moved to join them for trial. (R1-10). The State argued that the evidence found on Mr. Jeninga's phone was part of the same "common scheme" as the alleged assault and would help the State with its "task of demonstrating that Jeninga's sexual contact with his victim was done with the intent to become sexually aroused or gratified. . ." and that, "[t]he evidence also lends credibility to the victim's version of events." (R1-10:2). The State argued that the phone evidence would be admissible in a separate sexual assault trial as other acts evidence, to show "intent, motive, plan, and absence of mistake or accident pursuant to Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)." (R1-10:3-4). Mr. Jeninga's attorney argued against joinder. (R1-12). After hearing oral arguments (R1-60, R1-62), the court granted the State's joinder motion. (R1-62:25).

Defense counsel did not file a suppression motion.

Subsequently, Mr. Jeninga and the State reached a plea agreement, whereby Mr. Jeninga would plead to an amended charge of second-degree sexual assault of a child in Case No. 16-CF-62, and to one count of child pornography in Case No. 16-CF-162, with the remaining counts dismissed and read in. (R1-66:2-3). In exchange, the State agreed to cap its sentencing recommendation at 10 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. The defense would be free to argue for any sentence. (*Id.*).

intercourse with a person under 13 and caused great bodily harm to that person.

On January 9, 2017, the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable David M. Reddy presiding, accepted Mr. Jeninga's pleas. (R1-66). On March 17, 2017, the court conducted a sentencing hearing, and at its conclusion, imposed 10 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision on Case No. 16-CF-62 and 3 years of initial confinement and 3 years of extended supervision on Case No. 16-CF-162, concurrent. (R1-67:45). Judgments of conviction were entered accordingly. (R1-33, R2-29). Mr. Jeninga filed timely notices of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R1-34, R2-30).

On December 13, 2017, Mr. Jeninga filed a Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.30(2)(h) postconviction motion alleging that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to file a motion to suppress the phone evidence because the warrant for the phone was facially deficient, unconstitutionally overbroad, and contained intentional or reckless omissions and misrepresentations of material fact. (R1-35, R2-31). The Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.30(2)(i) deadline for the circuit court to decide Mr. Jeninga's motion was originally February 12, 2018.

The circuit court ordered briefing on Mr. Jeninga's claim (R1-38) and held a *Machner*⁴ hearing on February 6, 2018. (R1-68; App. 105-26). The parties stipulated to the admission of the warrant application and warrant and DVD of Mr. Jeninga's police interview. (R1-68:14-15 (*see* R1-7, R1-8, R1-36)).

⁴ *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Mr. Jeninga called trial-level defense counsel as a witness. Trial counsel testified that she did not file a suppression motion because she did not believe such a motion had merit. (R1-68:7-8; App. 111-12). If she had believed one had merit, she would have filed it. (R1-68:8; App. 112). She did not have a strategic reason for foregoing a suppression motion. She agreed that it was her decision not to file one. (R1-68:8; App. 112).

Counsel testified that she believed she reviewed "portions" of Mr. Jeninga's police interview. (R1-68:5; App. 109). She also reviewed the police reports and discussed the interview with Mr. Jeninga. She reviewed the search warrant and warrant application. (*Id.*). Counsel testified that she has been a defense attorney for many years (R1-68:9; App. 109). She also acknowledged a heavy case load, which included "at least" 200 to 250 cases per year. (R1-68:11; App. 115).

Trial counsel testified that the phone evidence was important to her assessment of the strengths of Mr. Jeninga's defense in the sexual assault case. (R1-68:6; App. 110). Prior to joinder, she believed Mr. Jeninga had a strong case for trial on the charge, due to weaknesses in the alleged victim's story and because of the State's burden to show improper intent. (R1-68:7; App. 111). Trial counsel viewed M.Y.V.'s forensic interview, and observed that it provided strong grounds for cross-examination had there been a trial ("I had also reviewed the child interview that was conducted at the CAC, and I believe that there were - - that the testimony as well as my potential cross of that child victim would have been enough to discredit that child as well."). (R1-68:7; App. 111). However, once the court joined the two cases for trial, the likelihood of success on the sexual assault charge suffered. (R1-68:6; App 110.). Trial counsel testified that, "I believe that he had a very strong case for trial should that case have been tried separately. But once the Court ruled that joinder was appropriate with the child pornography case and the images that the Court was going to allow to be published to the jury, I believe that changed that case dramatically." (R1-68:7; App. 111). This changed counsel's advice, and Mr. Jeninga's decision, to forego trial in lieu of a plea. (R1-68:6-7; App. 110-11).

The State called Detective Bushey as a witness. He testified that Assistant District Attorney Haley Johnson reviewed the warrant application and notarized it before it was submitted to the court commissioner. (R1-68:18; App. 122). Former court commissioner Zeke Wiedenfeld (current District Attorney for Walworth County) signed the warrant. (*Id.*).

At the close of evidence, the court entered another briefing schedule and set a hearing date of April 11, 2018, for an oral ruling. (R1-68:20; App. 124). Mr. Jeninga filed a post-*Machner* brief on March 14, 2018. (R1-44). The State filed a response brief on March 28, 2018 (R1-45), and Mr. Jeninga filed a reply brief on April 4, 2018. (R1-46). Mr. Jeninga filed a motion with this Court to extend the Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i) deadline for the circuit court to decide his postconviction motion. This Court granted the extension until April 18, 2018.

On April 11, 2018, the court did not make a ruling, as expected. (R1-69). Instead, the court expressed regret that the State had not asked trial counsel more specific questions about the particular case law she reviewed prior to deciding

not to file a motion to suppress. (R1-69:6). The prosecutor did not have many answers for the court because she was the third prosecutor to handle the postconviction claim, and was not very familiar with the cases. (R1-69:3, 27, 30). She did, however, agree that when it comes to deficient performance and a motion to suppress, if there is "some legal basis for it, you file it" and that trial counsel had testified that "if there had been merit, she would have filed it." (R1-69:4-5).

The State asked the court to make a decision on the existing record and to reach the merits of the suppression claim (R1-69:21), but alternatively asked to re-open the evidence and call trial counsel again as a witness. (R1-69:19). Mr. Jeninga objected to re-opening the evidence. (R1-69:31). The court granted the State's request. A hearing was set for May 31, 2018. The court stated it would request another round of briefing after that hearing (R1-69:38), which would result in a total of three rounds of postconviction briefing.

On April 12, 2018, Mr. Jeninga filed a written objection to re-opening the evidence and additional proceedings based on his statutory right to a timely appeal. (R1-47). *See State v. Roehling*, unpublished slip op Appeal No. 2016AP000035-CR, ¶13 (October 3, 2017) (one purpose of the statutory deadline "is to protect convicted defendants from undue delay in the resolution of their postconviction motions."). (App. 128-39).⁵

Mr. Jeninga argued that it would be improper for him to request a second extension of the Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i) deadline for the circuit court to decide the motion, given that he objected to the re-opening of evidence and further delay of his claim, but noted that the State or court could request an

⁵ Authored, unpublished opinions issued on or after July 1, 2009, may be cited for their persuasive value. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b).

extension. (R1:47:1-2). *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i). Mr. Jeninga also agreed to request an extension if ordered by the court. (R1-47:1). Neither the State nor court requested an extension of the court's deadline, and the court did not direct Mr. Jeninga to do so.

On April 25, 2018, Mr. Jeninga's motion was denied by operation Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i) (if no decision is made or extension requested, "the motion is considered to be denied and the clerk of circuit court shall immediately enter an order denying the motion."). (R1-50; App. 127). Mr. Jeninga filed timely notices of appeal. (R1-51, R2-48)

ARGUMENT

Mr. Jeninga Was Denied His Sixth Amendment Right To Effective Representation Of Counsel When Counsel Failed To File A Motion To Suppress Evidence Obtained Pursuant To A Search Warrant That Was Facially Deficient, Unconstitutionally Overbroad, And Contained Intentional Or Reckless Omissions And Misrepresentations Of Material Fact.

A. Introduction and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I. Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶14, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. "[A] search based upon an invalid search warrant is per se unreasonable" and thus unlawful. State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶2, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625.

The search warrant in this case violated the Fourth Amendment in three ways: (1) it failed to state probable cause, (2) it was unconstitutionally overbroad, and (3) the detective intentionally or recklessly omitted and misstated key facts from the warrant application and affidavit that were critical to the probable cause determination.

Evidence obtained pursuant to an unconstitutional search is fruit of the poisonous tree, and is disqualified from the government's case pursuant to the exclusionary rule. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 484-85, 487–88 (1963) (holding that the remedy for a Fourth Amendment violation is to exclude the evidence obtained pursuant to the violation: "we have consistently rejected . . . that a search unlawful at its inception may be validated by what it turns up.").

The United States Supreme Court has recognized unique privacy interests involved with modern cell phones. A person's cell phone constitutes a "digital record of nearly every aspect of their lives—from the mundane to the intimate." *Riley*, 134 S.Ct. at 2489-90 ("The term 'cell phone' is itself misleading shorthand; many of these devices are in fact minicomputers that also happen to have the capacity to be used as a telephone. They could just as easily be called cameras, video players, rolodexes, calendars, tape recorders, libraries, diaries, albums, televisions, maps, or newspapers."). Indeed, "a cell phone search would typically expose to the government far *more* than the most exhaustive search of a house. . . ." *Id.* at 2491. Thus, cell phones are excepted from the search incident to arrest doctrine. *Id.* at 2489.

Although in this case, law enforcement did ultimately obtain a warrant, the heightened and specialized privacy interests attendant to modern cell phones are still highly relevant here because "'the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is 'reasonableness.'" *Id.* at 2482 (citing *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006)).

A person's cell phone does not simply contain that person's own private information, but other people's private information as well, commonly including intimate photos, sensitive medical and financial information, and political and religious thoughts and expression. "Privacy is a pillar of freedom. . . . privacy serves more than the individual; it is an integral component of a well-ordered society." *State v. Subdiaz-Osorio*, 2014 WI 87, ¶¶40, 41, 357 Wis. 2d 41, 849 N.W.2d 748.

Trial counsel for Mr. Jeninga did not file a motion to suppress, and by failing to do so, rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Had trial counsel properly filed a motion to suppress, the phone evidence would have been excluded and Mr. Jeninga would not have pleaded to the charges. Mr. Jeninga should be permitted to withdraw his pleas and the phone evidence should be suppressed.

The standard of review on appeal is two-fold. This Court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless clearly erroneous; however, it reviews the circuit court's application of constitutional principles to those facts de novo. *State v. Gralinski*, 2007 WI App 233, ¶13, 306 Wis. 2d 101, 743 N.W.2d 448 (standard of review on a suppression motion); *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 376, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987) (standard of review on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim). B. The search warrant for Mr. Jeninga's cell phone failed to state probable cause.

The warrant application to search Mr. Jeninga's cell phone was facially deficient. It did not present sufficient facts to satisfy the probable cause standard. A search based on a warrant that fails to state probable cause is invalid. "Search warrants may issue only upon 'a finding of probable cause by a neutral and detached magistrate."" *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶21, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517 (quoting *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991)); Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1).

Probable cause requires "sufficient facts to excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that the objects sought will be found in the place to be searched." *Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d at 989. On review, the warrantissuing magistrate is owed deference; however, "[d]eference to the magistrate . . . is not boundless." *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 914 (1984). The probable cause standard is whether there is a "fair probability" that evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983).

Probable cause requires a higher quantum of evidence than mere suspicion; but here, the detective's request for a warrant was based on suspicion and unreasonable speculation from the facts. First, the evidence of child sexual assault was minimal. M.Y.V. said that Mr. Jeninga shook her on his clothed lap, while she was also clothed, and she could feel his "squirrel's tail." Bouncing a child on one's lap is commonly an innocuous display of affection. During his interview, Mr. Jeninga unequivocally and adamantly denied that anything improper occurred. There were no other witnesses to the alleged impropriety. As defense counsel testified at the *Machner* hearing, on these facts, the case was weak for the State and strong for the defense. (R1-68:7).

Furthermore, the only link between the alleged facts and Mr. Jeninga's phone was a single, conclusory sentence: "Your affiant knows through his training and experience that people who sexually assault children will sometimes comment on it through their texts, sometimes take pictures of the victims on their phones while they are sexually assaulting them, and sometimes download child porn on their phones." (R1-8:1-2; App. 102).

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