RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-25-2018

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2018AP0826-CR & 2018AP0827-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SIMON E. JENINGA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND FROM AN ORDER DENYING PLEA WITHDRAWAL, ENTERED IN WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID M. REDDY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jeninga failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a "manifest injustice" would occur if he was not allowed to back out of the plea agreement that he voluntarily and intelligently entered into on the advice of competent counsel.

There is no "manifest injustice" because Jeninga failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice caused by trial counsel's reasonable decision not to file, before agreeing to the plea deal, a motion to suppress child pornography evidence seized from his cell phone pursuant to a warrant issued by a neutral court commissioner.

1. Jeninga failed to prove deficient performance because a suppression motion would have failed. The detective's warrant application, approved by an assistant district attorney, set forth probable cause to justify the search of Jeninga's cell phone for child pornography evidence. Even if the issue of probable cause was close, the trial judge on review was required to give "great deference" to the court commissioner's probable cause determination and decision to issue the warrant. Even if the court

Although Jeninga bore the burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence, he declined that golden opportunity and declared that he was satisfied with the appellate record as it was, deciding that a speedy appeal was more important than a complete record. (R. 64:19–20, 31–32; 2018AP826-CR, R. 69:31; 47; Jeninga's Br. 9.) The State will now show that, in relying only on this skeletal record, Jeninga has fallen far short of meeting his daunting burden of proving a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence.

and it gave Jeninga the opportunity to supplement the record with more testimony and additional legal authority. The trial court contemplated asking this Court for an extension of time to decide the motion so the record could be supplemented. (R. 64:37– 38.)

commissioner was wrong, the fruits of the search remained admissible under the "good faith" exception to the exclusionary rule because police reasonably relied on the court commissioner's decision to issue the warrant. Trial counsel reasonably understood that she was not likely to convince the trial judge that the court commissioner functioned as a mere "rubber stamp" for police.

2. Jeninga failed to prove prejudice. Jeninga did not testify that he would have gone to trial on the repeated sexual assault of a child charge had the child pornography evidence been suppressed, resulting in the dismissal of the ten child pornography charges. As it was, the plea agreement resulted in the dismissal of nine of those ten child pornography charges. The plea agreement also reduced the charge involving his stepdaughter from repeated sexual assaults of the same child (with a 60-year maximum) down to second-degree sexual assault of a child (with a 40-year maximum). Had he rejected the plea offer and gone to trial on the repeated sexual assault charge. Jeninga risked conviction and a 60-year prison sentence if the jury believed his stepdaughter. By accepting the plea offer, Jeninga lowered his total penalty exposure from 310 years to a combined 65 years. The State also agreed to cap its sentence recommendation at ten years of initial confinement followed by ten years of extended supervision, a recommendation the trial court followed. It is not reasonably probable that Jeninga would have rejected this plea offer even had he known there was a chance that the suppression motion would have succeeded had counsel filed it.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue whether Jeninga proved a "manifest injustice" entitling him to withdraw his guilty plea to the reduced charges after sentencing is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 48, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482; State v. Roou, 2007 WI App 193, ¶ 15, 305 Wis. 2d 164, 738 N.W.2d 173. This Court will not disturb that decision unless the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. State v. Lopez, 2014 WI 11, ¶ 60, 353 Wis. 2d 1, 843 N.W.2d 390; State v. Jenkins, 2007 WI 96, ¶¶ 6, 29–30, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24; State v. Canedy, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 579, 469 N.W.2d 163 (1991).

Even if the trial court failed to exercise its discretion on the record, or did so inadequately, this Court may independently review the record to determine whether there is a reasonable basis to support the trial court's decision. *E.g.*, *State v. Hunt*, 2003 WI 81, ¶¶ 34, 45, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771. *See generally McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 282, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

ARGUMENT

I. Jeninga failed to prove a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence because he failed to prove prejudicially deficient performance by trial counsel.

Even though the trial court did not make findings of fact or exercise its discretion on the record, this Court should affirm the order denying plea withdrawal by operation of law because, after independently reviewing the record, this Court will be convinced that Jeninga failed to prove a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence when he failed to prove ineffective assistance of counsel. *See, e.g.*, *Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 34, 45. There is no reason to reverse the judgment and order because the record conclusively shows that trial counsel performed reasonably.

A. The applicable legal standards

1. The "manifest injustice" standard applicable to post-sentence plea withdrawal motions

In seeking to withdraw his guilty plea after sentencing, Jeninga bore the heavy burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that there was a "manifest injustice" entitling him to withdraw the plea. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 36, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44. Jeninga had to prove there was a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of his plea, not just disappointment in a lengthier than expected sentence. *Taylor*, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶ 49. Jeninga had to provide some reason other than his belated desire to go to trial or his misgivings about the decision to plead guilty. *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶¶ 32, 74.

This stiff burden of proof is imposed on Jeninga, and deference is owed to the trial court's determination that he failed to prove a "manifest injustice," to protect the State's strong interest in preserving the finality of criminal convictions once the plea has been accepted and sentence has been imposed. *Taylor*, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶ 48. *See State v. Cain*, 2012 WI 68, ¶¶ 25–26, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177; *Roou*, 305 Wis. 2d 164, ¶ 15 (same).

This Court's review is not limited to the plea hearing; it encompasses "the entire record, including the sentencing hearing." *Cain*, 342 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 29. This Court must consider "the totality of the circumstances," including the plea and sentencing hearings, the statements of defense counsel and other portions of the record. *Id.* ¶ 31. "The reviewing court looks at the entirety of the record to determine whether, considered as a whole, the record supports the assertion that manifest injustice will occur if the plea is not withdrawn." *Id.* This broad scope of review is proper because "it would simply not make sense to vacate a conviction as the result of an error at a plea hearing when later proceedings unambiguously demonstrate that the error did not give rise to a manifest injustice and that the plea was valid." *Id*.

It is of great significance that the plea, as here, satisfied the mandatory procedures set forth at Wis. Stat. § 971.08 as interpreted and applied in State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 262, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), for accepting a voluntary and intelligent plea. The antiseptic plea colloquy raises a strong presumption that the plea is binding, and the defendant "bears a heavy burden" to show that some alleged misunderstanding outside the record of the plea colloquy requires this Court to "disregard the solemn answers" he gave during the plea colloquy with the trial court. Jenkins, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶¶ 60, 62. See United States v. Collins, 796 F.3d 829, 834–35 (7th Cir. 2015) (defendant's statements in open court during the colloquy are not mere trifles and are presumed true); United States v. Abdul, 75 F.3d 327, 329 (7th Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 518 U.S. 1027 (1996) (the defendant "faces a heavy burden" even when he protests his innocence if the record at the plea hearing demonstrates that the plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered); United States v. Cray, 47 F.3d 1203, 1208 (D.C. Cir. 1995) ("[A] defendant who fails to show some error under Rule 11 [the federal counterpart to § 971.08] has to shoulder an extremely heavy burden if he is ultimately to prevail.").

One way to establish a manifest injustice is by proving that, as alleged here, the plea was caused by trial counsel's ineffectiveness. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *State v. Washington*, 176 Wis. 2d 205, 213–14, 500 N.W.2d 331 (Ct. App. 1993). To prevail on his manifest injustice/ineffective assistance claim, Jeninga had to prove by clear and convincing evidence that: (a) he was in fact denied the effective assistance of trial counsel; (b) counsel's error caused him to plead guilty; and (c) at the time of his plea, he was unaware of a potential challenge to the plea because of counsel's deficient performance. *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 11, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737.

2. The legal standards related to a plea withdrawal motion based on the alleged ineffective assistance of trial counsel

When it reviews a postconviction motion to withdraw a guilty or no-contest plea based upon the alleged ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the trial court applies the twopronged test for deficient performance and prejudice established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311–12. Under *Strickland*, the defendant is entitled to relief if he proves that counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687; *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

To establish deficient performance, Jeninga had to prove more than that counsel's performance was "imperfect or less than ideal." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 22, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. The issue is "whether the attorney's performance was reasonably effective considering all the circumstances." *Id.* Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered reasonably competent assistance. *Id.* ¶¶ 25, 27.

There is a "strong societal interest in finality [that] has 'special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas." *Lee v. United States*, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1967 (2017) (quoting *United States v. Timmreck*, 441 U.S. 780, 784 (1979)). "Courts should not upset a plea solely because of *post hoc* assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney's deficiencies. Judges should instead look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant's expressed preferences." *Id*. To prevail on his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for deciding not to file a suppression motion, Jeninga bore the burden of proving that the suppression motion would have succeeded had it been filed. See, e.g., State v. Jackson, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 344, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986)). This is because Strickland does not require trial counsel to file a suppression motion that would have been denied. *E.g.*, State v. Foster, 2014 WI 131, ¶¶ 59, 78, 360 Wis. 12, 856 N.W.2d 847; State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 37, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 595; State v. Berggren, 2009 WI App 82, ¶ 21, 320 Wis. 2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110.

Assuming he could prove deficient performance, Jeninga had to also affirmatively prove by clear and convincing evidence that he suffered actual prejudice caused by counsel's deficient performance. He could not speculate. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 24, 63, 70. "The likelihood of a different outcome 'must be substantial, not just conceivable.' [*Harrington v.*] *Richter*, 131 S. Ct. at 792." *Campbell v. Smith*, 770 F.3d 540, 549 (7th Cir. 2014).

To establish prejudice in the plea withdrawal context, Jeninga had to prove there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial but for counsel's deficient performance. *Lee*, 137 S. Ct. at 1965; *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985); *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 312; *State v. Rockette*, 2005 WI App 205, ¶ 31, 287 Wis. 2d 257, 704 N.W.2d 382.

Jeninga had to present *objective evidence* that there is a reasonable probability he would have gone to trial but for counsel's error. *Koons v. United States*, 639 F.3d 348, 351 (7th Cir. 2011); *Morales v. Boatwright*, 580 F.3d 653, 663 (7th Cir. 2009). Jeninga's unsubstantiated allegation that he would have insisted on going to trial but for counsel's alleged error is insufficient. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313–15; *Bethel v. United States*, 458 F.3d 711, 716–17 (7th Cir. 2006); *United* States v. Arvanitis, 902 F.2d 489, 494 (7th Cir. 1990). A specific explanation why he would have gone to trial is required. Santos v. Kolb, 880 F.2d 941, 943 (7th Cir. 1989). Jeninga had to prove that his lawyer's deficiency was a decisive factor in his decision to plead guilty. Bethel, 458 F.3d at 719. In evaluating the impact of counsel's alleged error, the strength of the State's case is a factor. Eckstein v. Kingston, 460 F.3d 844, 848 (7th Cir. 2006).

This Court may choose not to address the deficient performance component if it is easier to dispose of the ineffective assistance challenge by holding there was insufficient proof of prejudice, even assuming deficient performance. The reverse is also true. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697; *State v. Moats*, 156 Wis. 2d 74, 101, 457 N.W.2d 299 (1990).

B. Jeninga failed to prove trial counsel was ineffective because: (a) the suppression motion lacked merit; (b) he would not have rejected the favorable plea offer and gone to trial on the repeated sexual assault charge.

Jeninga does not explain what more Attorney Dietrich should have done beyond what she did here: review the search warrant application, review the police interview with her client, consult with her colleagues regarding potential challenges to the warrant, and research the law. Those efforts evince reasonably diligent performance.

The gist of Jeninga's argument seems to be that, even if she believed the suppression motion would not succeed, counsel should have filed one before accepting the plea offer because she had nothing to lose by doing so. "There was no downside." (R. 64:17.) The *Strickland* performance standard is not whether counsel had anything to lose. The standard is not that defense counsel must file every non-frivolous pretrial motion known to man. The standard is whether competent counsel performed reasonably in deciding not to pursue what she reasonably determined to be a pointless suppression motion. *See Knowles v. Mirzayance*, 556 U.S. 111, 121 (2009) ("This Court has never established anything akin to the Court of Appeals' 'nothing to lose' standard for evaluating *Strickland* claims.").

Jeninga also believes that, just because Attorney Dietrich may in hindsight have been wrong in assessing the potential merit of a suppression motion, she was for that reason ineffective. In the words of postconviction counsel: "I think that being wrong is below an objective standard of reasonableness here." (R. 64:10.) That betrays a fundamental misunderstanding of *Strickland*.

The Strickland performance standard is one of reasonableness, not correctness. The prosecutor correctly articulated the Strickland standard: "I don't agree that an attorney has to be perfect and has to be right. They have to be reasonable." (R. 64:11.) The trial court agreed. (R. 64:15–16.) Jeninga was not entitled to error-free representation. Trial counsel need not even be very good to be deemed constitutionally adequate. State v. Wright, 2003 WI App 252, ¶ 28, 268 Wis. 2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386; McAfee v. Thurmer, 589 F.3d 353, 355–56 (7th Cir. 2009). Ordinarily, a defendant does not prevail unless he proves that counsel's performance sunk to the level of professional malpractice. Maloney, 281 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 23 n.11.

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